AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

TOWN OF MILTON

AND

MILTON PUBLIC LIBRARY STAFF ASSOCIATION

MLSA, LOCAL 4928, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS (AFT)

AFT MASSACHUSETTS, AFL-CIO

July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			PAGE
Article	I	Recognition	1
Article	II	Non-Discrimination	1
Article	III	Union Security	2
Article	IV	Grievance Procedure and Discipline	4
		4.5 Just Cause	5
		4.7 Union Management Committee	5
Article	V	Hours of Work	5
Article	VI	Overtime and Compensatory Time	7
Article	VII	Management Rights	7
Article	VIII	Longevity	8
Article	IX	Union Representative	9
Article	X	Vacations	9
Article	XI	Holidays	12
Article	XII	Personal Days	13
Article	XIII	Sick Leave	14
Article	VIV	Maternity Leave and Leaves of Absence	15
Article	XV	Job Posting and Bidding	16
Article	XVI	Bereavement Leave	17
Article	XVII	Stability of Agreement	17
Article	XVIII	Seniority	18
Article	XIX	Jury Duty, Military Leave	19

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
Article XX	Injury Leave/Light Duty	19
Article XXI	Professional Conferences	20
Article XXII	Advanced Education	20
Article XXIII	Health Insurance	21
Article XXIV	Wages	24
Article XXV	Miscellaneous	25
Article XXVI	Unscheduled Closings	26
Article XXVII	Duration	26
Appendix A	Wages	28
Appendix B	Night Differential	29
Appendix C	Saturday Differential	30
Appendix D	Sick Leave Bank	31

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

1.1 The Town recognizes the Union, pursuant to the provisions of c. 150E of the General Laws, as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for employees in the following bargaining unit:

ALL LIBRARIANS (INCLUDING THOSE LIBRARIANS WHO FUNCTION AS DEPARTMENT HEADS), SENIOR LIBRARIANS (EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 1995), JUNIOR LIBRARIAN ASSISTANTS, SENIOR LIBRARIAN ASSISTANTS, THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, THE SECRETARY TO THE DIRECTOR, AND EXCLUDING THE DIRECTOR, PAGES, MANAGERIAL CONFIDENTIAL, SUPERVISORY EMPLOYEES AND ALL OTHER LIBRARY EMPLOYEES.

1.2 It is understood that since the Union is the exclusive representative with respect to conditions of employment, the Union shall be given notice of contemplated changes in working conditions before they are implemented. The Town will not be arbitrary in making any such changes.

ARTICLE II NON-DISCRIMINATION

2.1 Neither the Town nor the Union shall discriminate against any employee on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, disability or participation or non-participation in lawful Union activities.

ARTICLE III UNION SECURITY

- 3.1 Upon compliance by the Union with the provision of
- c. 180, '17 and c. 150E, M.G.L., the Town agrees to deduct Union dues each pay period from the pay of each employee who has on file with the Employer a valid, executed authorization for such deductions consistent with the following form, and to remit the aggregate amount thereof to the Treasurer of the Union. Effective January 1, 2016, the Town agrees to electronically transmit deducted Union dues to an Association bank account provided to the Town by the Association. The Town shall not be responsible for any disputes between individual members and the Association and the Association agrees to hold the Town harmless in any dispute between individual members and the Association.
- **3.2** It is understood that it is the responsibility of the Union to provide the dues authorization forms, and to have them executed by employees.
- 3.3 The Union agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Town from any costs, award, judgments, interest or cost of defense of any lawsuit or administrative complaint against the Town arising out of implementation by the Town of the dues deduction and agency service fee provisions of this Agreement.

3.4 The following form shall be used for authorization of payroll deduction of Union dues:

(FORM)

Authorization For Payroll Deduction

By:	(EMPLOYEE)
To:	Town of Milton, Treasurer
FROM MY EARNINGS	
	MAY BE TERMINATED BY ME BY GIVING YOU A SIXTY-DAY WRITTEN NOTICE IN ON TERMINATION OF MY EMPLOYMENT.
	(Employee's Signature)
	(Employee's Address)

3.5 Upon compliance by the Union with the necessary statutory requirements, the Town will require as a condition of employment, the payment of an agency service fee in the same amount as Union dues by an employee who is not a member of the Union on or after the thirtieth (30th) day following the beginning of such employment or the effective date of this AGREEMENT, whichever is the later. The Town agrees that upon appropriate written authorization executed by such employee, it will deduct the agency service fee from the pay of the employee and will remit the aggregate amount of such deductions

to the same officer of the Union as is designated under section 3.1.

ARTICLE IV GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND DISCIPLINE

- **4.1** A grievance, which is defined as an alleged violation of a specific provision of this Agreement, may be processed in the following manner:
- STEP 1: THE AGGRIEVED EMPLOYEE SHALL PRESENT THE GRIEVANCE IN WRITING TO THE DIRECTOR WITHIN FIVE WORKING DAYS OF THE EMPLOYEE'S FIRST KNOWLEDGE OF THE OCCURRENCE OR OMISSION GIVING RISE TO IT. THE DIRECTOR SHALL MEET WITH THE EMPLOYEE, AND THEREAFTER RENDER HIS DECISION IN WRITING WITHIN SEVEN (7) WORKING DAYS OF HIS RECEIPT OF THE GRIEVANCE.
- STEP 2: If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved in Step 1, it may be presented in writing to the Library's Board of Trustees within five (5) working days of the Director's response, or its due date. The Board shall meet with the aggrieved employee within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of the grievance and thereafter render a written decision within fifteen (15) working days of the hearing.
- STEP 3: If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 2, it may be presented to the Town Administrator within five (5) working days of the Step 2 decision or its due date. The Town Administrator or his designee shall respond in writing to the grievance within seven (7) working days thereafter.
- STEP 4: If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step 3, the Union may request arbitration within thirty (30) working days of the Step 3 decision, by filing a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association, and simultaneously with the Town, pursuant to the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the A.A.A.
- **4.2** The Arbitrator shall be without power to add to, subtract from, alter or amend this Agreement and his/her decision shall be final and binding on the parties. The expenses of the Arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties.

- **4.3** The parties may, by mutual written agreement, waive any step or steps of the grievance procedure, or extend any time limit.
- **4.4** Any grievance, appeal or request for arbitration not filed within the time limits shall be deemed to have been waived.
- **4.5** No non-probationary employee will be demoted, suspended or discharged except for just cause, and such matters may be grieved pursuant to the provisions of this Article.
- **4.6** An employee may be represented at any stage of this procedure or during any formal disciplinary proceedings by a Union representative.
- 4.7 Union Management Committee There is hereby established a Union Management Committee which shall consist of two persons to be designated by the M.L.S.A., and two persons to be designated by the Employer. Additionally, a Trustee and the Town Administrator shall participate on an "as needed" basis. This Committee shall meet monthly or at such other times and intervals as may be agreed and shall function as a forum for problems which may arise between the parties which are not pursued through the grievance procedure. The Committee shall have no authority to alter or amend this Agreement, but shall attempt to resolve as expeditiously as possible such problems as may be referred to it.

ARTICLE V HOURS OF WORK

- **5.1** The normal work week for full time employees shall be thirty-seven and one-half hours $(37\frac{1}{2})$ weekly.
- **5.2** Except in emergencies, the Town will give two weeks' advance notice of any changes in work schedules and upon request, discuss the same with the Union.

- **5.3** The Town will endeavor to distribute equitably Saturday work to all full-time employees.
- 5.4 No library employees shall be required to work on Saturdays or Sundays from the fourth Saturday in June through Labor Day weekend. However, if such work is required, the opportunity will first be afforded to volunteers from within the bargaining unit. If there are no volunteers, then management may assign this work using a rotational schedule, in the reverse order of seniority, to members of the bargaining unit hired on or after July 1, 2014, who may be required to work on these days as a condition of employment.
- 5.5 No bargaining unit employee hired prior to October 1, 1984 will be required to work on Sunday, although they will be afforded the opportunity to volunteer their services for such work should their services be needed. Employees hired on October 1, 1984 or subsequently may be required to work on Sundays as a condition of employment, if management so determines. In the event that such Sunday work is required, the opportunity will first be afforded to volunteers. If there are no volunteers, management will endeavor to assign work on a rotational schedule, in the reverse order of seniority. The parties recognize that this in no way affects management's right to subcontract for such work, as per Article VII.
- **5.6** All hours worked on Sunday by bargaining unit employees will be compensated at the rate of time and one-half pay.
- **5.7** In the event that a person works 12 hours in one day, that person shall be paid one (1) hour for dinner.

ARTICLE VI OVERTIME AND COMPENSATORY TIME

- **6.1** Any hours worked at the discretion of the Library Director which are in excess of forty (40) hours in one work week shall be compensated at the overtime rate of time and one-half. At the option of the Employer, compensation may be in the form of compensatory time equal to time and one-half for each hour worked in excess of forty (40) hours in any week.
- **6.2** Overtime work up to fifteen (15) minutes will be uncompensated; overtime in excess of fifteen (15) minutes shall be compensated to the next one-half hour.
- **6.3** An employee who has left the work place and who is called back to work shall receive no less than two (2) hours compensation at the appropriate rate.
- **6.4** With all other qualifications being equal, seniority shall be the deciding factor affecting the distribution of additional work opportunities, and shift work assignments. The Employer shall use a rotating list, ordered by seniority, to distribute additional work opportunities. The Library Director has the discretion to assign additional work opportunities to part-time or full-time employees.

ARTICLE VII MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

7.1 Subject only to the extent that an express provision of this Agreement or applicable law specifically limits the rights or discretion of the Employer, all rights, functions and prerogatives of the Employer formerly exercised or exercisable by the Employer remain vested exclusively in the Employer. These rights whether exercised or not, include, without being limited to, all rights and powers

given the Employer by law, the right to operate, manage and control the Library and its activities and to direct and control the work of its employees and the use of its properties, facilities and equipment; to determine Library hours, to require reasonable standards of performance; to maintain discipline, order and efficiency; to determine operational and other policies; to determine methods and procedures and to direct and evaluate employees; to determine assignment of work; the right to obtain from any source and to contract and subcontract for materials, supplies, equipment and services provided the Town negotiates with the Union on the impact of subcontracting; the right to discharge, suspend, reprimand or otherwise discipline employees for cause in the manner provided by law and this Agreement; the right to select, hire, test, suspend, transfer, promote and demote employees for cause in the manner provided by law and this Agreement; the right to layoff employees for lack of funds or work; the right to promulgate and enforce all reasonable rules relating to policies, procedures and operations, safety measures and any other matters; and all other rights pertaining to the management of the Library.

7.2 Library staff will wear badges with first names identifying them as Staff of the Milton Public Library, such badges to be provided by the Town.

ARTICLE VIII LONGEVITY

8.1 Effective July 1, 2015, employees covered by this Agreement shall receive a longevity payment as follows: After completion of five (5) years of continuous service, \$250.00, and an additional \$40.00 for each additional year of service. Part-time employees shall receive a pro-rated longevity payment in accordance with the

ratio that their hours of work bear to the full-time work week, considering continuous part-time employment and continuous full-time employment in proportionate combination.

ARTICLE IX UNION REPRESENTATIVE

- **9.1** The Union will furnish the Town with a list of Association officers within thirty (30) days of signing this Agreement.
- 9.2 The Library Director will grant permission for representatives of the Association to enter the premises of the Library for the conduct of Union business, provided it shall not disrupt the normal flow of business.
- 9.3 The Library Director shall grant Association officers reasonable time without loss of pay, not to exceed three (3) days per year in the aggregate to attend Union conventions. Association officers shall be granted reasonable time off to investigate and settle grievances.
- **9.4** Not more than two (2) members of the negotiating team shall be allowed time off without loss of pay to attend negotiations if scheduled to work and will not have to be rescheduled.

ARTICLE X VACATIONS

10.1 Professional employees shall be granted vacation according to the following schedule on January $1^{\rm st}$ of each year:

LENGTH OF SERVICE	ANNUAL VACATION
From 30 Weeks to 15 Years	20 Days
From 16 Years to 20 Years ¹	23 Days
Beginning with the 21st Year	25 Days
¹ Effective 7/1/2017	

10.2 Paraprofessional employees shall be granted vacation according to the following schedule on January 1st of each year:

LENGTH OF SERVICE	ANNUAL VACATION
From 30 Weeks to 5 Years	10 Days
From 6 Years to 10 Years	15 Days
From 10 Years to 15 Years	20 Days
From 16 Years to 20 Years ²	23 Days
Beginning with the 21 st Year	25 Days
² Effective 7/1/2017	

10.3 An Employee hired after the ratification of the 2016-2019 collective bargaining agreement shall accrue vacation during his/her first year of service according to the following schedule:

Professional Employee	1.67 Days/Month
Paraprofessional Employee	o.83 Days/Month

A newly hired employee shall be granted their accrued vacation upon completion of thirty (30) weeks of service, and shall continue to accrue vacation until December 31st following their first anniversary date of hire. At the end of this period, an employee shall be granted vacation as provided in 10.0 and 10.1 above.

10.4 Part-time employees shall receive a pro-rated vacation in accordance with the ratio their hours of work have to the full-time work week.

- 10.5 Employees who have fulfilled the requirements for a vacation and whose services are terminated by resignation, retirement or layoff without their having been granted vacation to which they are entitled, shall be paid an amount in lieu of the vacation due. In the event of death of the employee, the vacation due shall be paid to the employee's beneficiary or estate.
- 10.6 In extenuating circumstances, the Library Director may give written permission for vacation carry over from one year to the next.
- 10.7 If a holiday falls within the vacation period, it shall not count as part of the vacation allowance.
- 10.8 Vacation credits and accumulated time shall be presented to the employee once each year or upon request. Vacation scheduling shall be subject to the approval of the Library Director, and the needs of the Library.
- 10.9 Employees shall be permitted to take vacation leave subject to the scheduling needs of the Library, as determined by the Library Director, however such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 10.10 Employees wishing to take vacation leave shall provide the Library Director with prior notice of at least a twenty-four (24) hours for a one (1) day absence, forty-eight (48) hours for an absence of two (2), three (3), or four (4) days, and seventy-two (72) hours' notice for absences of five (5) or more days. Under extenuating circumstances the prior notice provision of this section may be waived at the sole discretion of the Library Director.

ARTICLE XI

11.1 The following holidays shall be paid holidays for employees of the Library who would normally be scheduled to work that day:

New Year's Day	Labor Day		
Martin Luther King Day	Columbus Day		
President's Day	Veteran's Day		
Patriot's Day	Thanksgiving Day		
Memorial Day	Day After Thanksgiving		
July 4th	Christmas Day		

- 11.2 If a holiday falls on a day a permanent part-time employee is scheduled to work, he/she shall receive the usual pay for the holiday.
- 11.3 If a holiday falls on a non-scheduled workday, full-time employees shall be granted a compensatory day off without loss of pay.
- 11.4 In order to receive holiday compensation an employee must work his or her scheduled tour of duty immediately prior to and immediately following the holiday.
- 11.5 Library employees who work on the day after Thanksgiving will be given a number of holiday hours equal to the hours worked on that day to be used as a floating holiday. Library employees who have the day after Thanksgiving off but are normally scheduled to work on Fridays will be paid for the number of hours equal to the number of hours normally worked on Friday. This article will not affect employees who are not normally scheduled to work on Fridays.

11.6 Effective July 1, 2011, the Library will be closed on Thanksgiving Eve at 5:30 p.m., Christmas Eve (all day) and New Year's Eve (all day). Employees who normally work the Wednesday evening of Thanksgiving Eve will be scheduled to work in the morning or afternoon prior to closing. The Library will be closed Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve all day. If the employee has a "regularly scheduled day off" that week, he/she will be required to work that "regularly scheduled day off".

ARTICLE XII PERSONAL DAYS

- 12.1 Each bargaining unit employee of the Library, with the exception of those employees hired on or after July 1, 2014, shall receive up to a maximum of five (5) personal days without loss of pay during each calendar year.
- 12.2 Three (3) days shall be guaranteed, and awarded on the January $1^{\rm st}$ for employees hired before July 1, 2014. For employees hired on or after July 1, 2014 three (3) days shall be guaranteed, and awarded on July 1st.
- 12.3 Up to two (2) additional days per calendar year may be earned for perfect attendance during a quarter. This section shall not apply to employees hired on or after July 1, 2014. A day may be earned at the beginning of a quarter, if the bargaining unit employee had perfect attendance in the prior quarter and the employee had not already earned five personal days in the calendar year. Quarters shall be defined as follows:

January 1 st to March 31 st	July 1 st to September 30 th
April 1 st to June 30 th	October 1 st to December 31 st

12.4 Bargaining unit employees will be eligible to earn personal leave days after they have been employed for one (1) year. This section shall not apply to employees hired on or after July 1, 2014.

ARTICLE XIII SICK LEAVE

- 13.1 Sick leave may be taken due to an employee's illness or injury. In addition, an employee may take up to five (5) days of sick leave per calendar year due to the illness or injury of an employee's spouse, parent or child. Bargaining unit employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of one day per month during the first year of employment, then at the rate of one and one-quarter days per month during the four years of employment; thereafter sick leave shall accrue at a rate of one and one-half days per month. Part-time employees shall accrue sick leave on a proportional basis in accordance with their hours of work. Sick leave shall accumulate to an unlimited amount.
- 13.2 A physician's certificate of illness, if deemed necessary by the Head of the Department or Personnel Board, may be required.
- 13.3 Effective with the date upon which the July 1, 2002 June 30,2005 agreement is signed, employees who are employed for eighteen (18) or more consecutive years and who die, or retire under Chapter 32 because of disability or super-annuation or are dismissed due to no fault of the employee, shall be eligible for compensation for unused sick leave. Effective July 1, 2014, new employees to the Town shall not be eligible for sick leave buyback. Eligible employees

shall receive \$40.00 per day for each day of sick leave accumulated in excess of fifty (50) days. Eligible employees who voluntarily retire as aforesaid shall receive payments for accumulated sick leave in the fiscal year following December 31 of the calendar year in which the employee retires; provided, however, that eligible employees who voluntarily retire as aforesaid and who give written notice to the Personnel Board no later than December 31 preceding the fiscal year in which the employee retires shall receive payments for accumulated sick leave upon retirement in said fiscal year. In the event that a medical or other emergency occurs which prevents the employee from giving the requisite notice, the Town may waive such notice in a particular case.

13.4 The Library shall present to the employee the amount of his/her accumulated sick leave once per year, upon request for same.

ARTICLE XIV MATERNITY LEAVE AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE

14.1 The employer agrees to grant requests for unpaid maternity leave consistent with the provisions of c. 149, '105D of the General Laws of Massachusetts. In addition, the Board of Library Trustees may grant requests for additional unpaid maternity leave of up to four (4) months if in the Board's judgment it will not negatively affect library operations. During any period of unpaid maternity leave or in the extended period an employee will be entitled to any sick leave credits she may have accrued. The Association acknowledges that the Association and the Town are subject to the provisions of the Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA"). The FMLA shall not increase or decrease the length of leave available to eligible employees under this Agreement. Where an employee takes leave under one of the aforementioned Articles for a reason which would entitle an employee

to leave under the FMLA, such leave will also be considered FMLA leave and will be deducted from the employee's statutory FMLA leave entitlement. FMLA leave is not cumulative and is not in addition to leaves currently available to the extent such leaves are for reasons covered by the FMLA. To the extent permitted by law, employees may utilize accrued vacation and sick leave during the period of any approved FMLA leave. FMLA leave shall also be granted for adoptive parents.

- 14.2 No employee shall be required to work on video display terminals during the first trimester of pregnancy, and it is understood that the employee has the obligation to advise the Director as soon as she is aware of pregnancy.
- 14.3 The Town may in its discretion grant unpaid leaves of absence of reasonable duration, subject to the following procedure: An employee requesting such a leave shall do so in writing to the Library Director setting forth the reasons for such request and the proposed length of the leave. Within two weeks thereafter, the Director shall respond in writing to the employee. The decision presented to the employee shall not be grievable.

ARTICLE XV JOB POSTING AND BIDDING

15.1 When the Employer intends to fill a vacated bargaining unit position, the Employer shall cause to be posted for ten (10) working days a vacancy notice indicating the location, title and duties of the position proposed to be filled. The Employer shall accept applications from interested persons within and outside the bargaining unit. Preference in filling such vacancies shall be given to bargaining unit employees unless in the judgment of the Employer a non-bargaining unit applicant is significantly better qualified by

education, training and experience and other relevant indicia of abilities.

ARTICLE XVI BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- 16.1 In the event of a death in the immediate family of an employee, the employee will be granted up to five (5) days' leave without loss of pay, and such leave shall not be charged to sick leave or vacation leave. Immediate family is defined as spouse, domestic partner, child, step/foster child, mother, father, stepmother, stepfather, brother, sister.
- 16.2 In the event of the death of a grandmother, grandfather, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandson, granddaughter, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, aunt, uncle, niece or nephew, the employee will be granted up to three (3) days leave without loss of pay and such leave will not be charged to sick leave or vacation leave.
- 16.3 Leave under this Article shall be taken immediately following the death or commensurate with the funeral and/or memorial service, at the discretion of the employee. Part-time employees shall receive a pro-rated bereavement leave in accordance with the ratio that their hours of work have to the full-time work week. Additional bereavement leave may be granted by the Director under extenuating circumstances.

ARTICLE XVII STABILITY OF AGREEMENT

17.1 The terms of this Agreement shall prevail whenever there is a conflict between the provisions hereof and a municipal personnel bylaw, as provided in Section 7 of Chapter 150E.

17.2 Should any provision of this Agreement be held invalid, the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE XVIII SENIORITY

- 18.1 Seniority is defined as the length of continuous employment with the Town.
- 18.2 For the purpose of seniority, if an employee returns to the employment of the Town after an approved leave of absence, or layoff, the employee shall have restored his/her credit for prior years of service.
- 18.3 The principle of reverse seniority shall apply in the event of a reduction of hours or force provided that in the judgment of the Employer the senior employees remaining have the qualifications, ability, experience, and specialization to perform the work. In the event of a reduction in force or hours, employees affected under the preceding section shall have preference for reemployment or increased hours for a period of two years, unless their prior service is of less than two years duration, in which event they shall have such rights for a period equivalent to length of their prior service.
- 18.4 In the event that the Library Trustees vote to submit a budget which proposes the layoff of one or more employees, such employees shall be notified by the Library Trustees of the possibility of layoff within seven (7) days thereafter. In any event, however, employees will be given at least twenty-one (21) days advance notice of layoff.
- 18.5 To the extent deemed practical by the Employer, seniority shall be considered in decisions affecting vacation selection.

18.6 The first six (6) months of employment shall be a probationary employment period. Within the probationary employment period, an employee may not participate in the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth in this Agreement. The Employer and the Union expressly acknowledge that during the probationary employment period, the Employer may discipline or discharge an employee with or without cause and such discipline or discharge shall not be subject to grievance and arbitration.

ARTICLE XIX JURY DUTY, MILITARY LEAVE

- 19.1 An employee called for jury duty on days falling within his usual work period for the Town shall be paid for those days, the difference between the compensation he would have received from the Town and his fees, exclusive of travel allowances, for such services.
- 19.2 An employee called for an annual tour of duty with the military forces shall be paid an amount equal to the difference the compensation for a normal working period of two weeks and the amount paid for such military service, exclusive of any travel allowance. This temporary military duty shall in no way affect the regular vacation time earned by the employee.
- 19.3 If an employee is summoned to appear in court as a witness for the Town, he/she shall receive full compensation for any time lost and shall return to the Town such fees as he may collect.

ARTICLE XX INJURY LEAVE/LIGHT DUTY

20.1 Any employee who is unable to work as a result of any injury arising out of and in the course of his employment shall receive

compensation in accordance with Chapter 152 of the General Laws of the Commonwealth, Worker's Compensation Act.

20.2 Employees absent from duty and on workers compensation may be required during recuperation to return to light or limited duty, at the discretion of the Library Director and the employee's physician. Any assignment to light or limited duty must be approved by the employee's treating physician, including such limitations as the employee's treating physician shall document. The employer agrees that leave with pay will be granted any employee assigned to light or limited duty hereunder, for medical evaluation and/or treatment relating to the underlying medical condition.

ARTICLE XXI PROFESSIONAL CONFERENCES

21.1 Consistent with available appropriations and the needs of the Library, employees may be granted permission to attend professional conferences including the MLA, NELA, and ALA without loss of pay, and with reimbursement of mileage, registration, meal and accommodation expenses.

ARTICLE XXII ADVANCED EDUCATION

- 22.1 If in the sole judgment of the Employer, it is in the Library's best interests, it may permit leave time without loss of pay for purposes of attending a class or classes directly relating to the employee's job, or which will further the employee's professional skills.
- 22.2 Any such request for leave time under the provisions of this Article shall be submitted to the Library Director, who will

recommend approval or disapproval.

22.3 The Town will reimburse an employee's tuition for a course approved by the Director in advance. Courses approved will be those which directly relate to the employee's job, or which shall further the professional skills of the employee. Reimbursement may be in full or in part as determined by the Director on an equitable basis. The Employer agrees, furthermore, to establish and promulgate specific timelines for such applications, and for notice to applicants of the disposition of his or her application.

ARTICLE XXIII HEALTH INSURANCE

- 23.1 The Town shall continue to provide employees the option to enroll in health care maintenance organization ("HMO") insurance coverage, family and individual, pursuant to G.L. C.32B, Section 16. Effective July 1, 2017 employees shall pay twenty-two percent (22%) of the total monthly premium cost or rate for HMO insurance coverage, and the Town shall pay seventy-eight percent (78%), and effective July 1, 2018 employees shall pay twenty-four percent (24%), and the Town shall pay seventy-six percent (76%) of the total monthly premium cost or rate for such coverage. During the month of December, 2017, employees shall be granted one (1) premium holiday, and during the month of December, 2018, employees shall be granted two (2) premium holiday(s). Employees shall not contribute their percentage share toward the monthly HMO insurance premium for said number of payroll cycles during those months.
- 23.2 Indemnity plan coverage, if any, shall be on the basis of a fifty (50) percent premium contribution by the employee and fifty (50) percent premium contribution by the Town, to cover all employees of the Department and their families, retired employees of the

Department and their surviving spouse. In the event that the Town offers an indemnity plan, it shall give prior written notice to the Association, and upon timely demand, the Town will negotiate to agreement or impasse.

- 23.3 In accordance with the provisions of Chapter 32B of the General Laws, with no premium cost to the Town, the Town will purchase additional group life and group accidental death and dismemberment insurance for employees.
- 23.4 The Town shall continue to provide Health Insurance benefits for members of the unit to be determined through a process of Coalitional Bargaining between the Town and the Unions representing bargaining units of its employees. The following HMO Plan Design (Co-Payment Schedule) shall be in effect for the term of this agreement:

Physician Office Visit	\$20
Three Tiered Retail Prescriptions	\$10/\$25/\$45
Three Tiered Mail Order Prescriptions	\$20/\$50/\$90
Emergency Room (Waived if Admitted)	\$100
Deductible	\$0
Specialist Office Visits	\$20
Hospital Admission	\$ 0
Ambulatory/Outpatient Surgery	\$0
High Tech Imaging (MRI, CT, PET)	\$ 0

23.5 Effective January 1, 2012, the Town shall retain a third party administrator to administer a Section 125 Flexible Spending Account (FSA) for active employees. Two (2) accounts that shall be included in the Section 125 FSA shall be a Dependent Care Account (DECAP) and a Medical Care Account (MEDCAP). The Town shall be responsible for paying any one-time setup costs associated with implementing the Section 125 FSA. The Town shall pay any administrative fees for subscribers who opt into the FSA. Employees may set aside funds up

to the maximum amount permitted by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Code. Effective July 1, 2012, a debit card will be made available to participants in the MEDCAP Account. The cost of the debit card will be paid by the Town. Effective July 1, 2015 bargaining unit members may roll over up to Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) of unused FSA funds in their account at the end of each fiscal year of this Agreement, in accordance with IRS regulations.

- 23.6 Effective upon ratification of this Agreement, the Association and all bargaining unit members shall cooperate and comply with any and all audit requirements under Section 26 of Chapter 69 of the Acts of 2011, including but not limited to, submission of paperwork requested by the Town and/or its insurance consultant. The Town agrees that it, its employees and its designees will protect the information submitted as required by state and federal law, including, but not limited to, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"). The information submitted pursuant to an audit will not be shared with, or accessible to, any Town employee or designee for any purpose other than as required to complete the audit. Such information shall not become part of an employee's personnel file. If the Town or its designee discloses the submitted information to any person or entity, including any other employee or representative of the Town, other than as required to complete an audit or facilitate treatment, the Town will notify the employee, in writing, of the identity of the person to whom the information was disclosed, what was disclosed, and the purpose of the disclosure.
- 23.7 In the event that the Town offers a Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) plan or a Point of Service (POS) plan in the future, employees shall contribute twenty percent (20%) towards the cost of health insurance premiums.

- 23.8 Employees shall contribute fifty percent (50%) towards the cost of health insurance premiums for the VIP 2000 and MEDEX III Plans.
- 23.9 In the event the Town enters the Group Insurance Commission (GIC), the amount that employees will be required to contribute towards the cost of health insurance premiums for plans in the GIC shall be as follows:

НМО	15%
PPO/POS	15%
INDEMNITY	50%

ARTICLE XXIV

- **24.1** Effective July 1, 2016, all employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid in accordance with Appendix "A".
- **24.2** Effective January 1, 2016, all bargaining unit members shall be paid bi-weekly in equal installments.
- 24.3 Effective January 1, 2016, all bargaining unit members shall receive their paycheck through direct deposit, which may be confirmed electronically. In the extraordinary event that an employee cannot comply with the requirement that they receive their paycheck through direct deposit due to severe hardship, such as an inability to access a bank or financial institution during off hours or an inability to access an ATM within a reasonable geographic distance from the employee's worksite or home, the employee shall notify the Assistant Town Administrator and request an exemption. The Assistant Town Administrator shall review the request for an exemption and will notify the employee of his/her decision. No other appeal may be commenced by the employee or the Association relative to the

exemption request and, further, the provisions of this clause are not subject to the parties' grievance and arbitration procedure, provided the decision of the Assistant Town Administrator is not arbitrary or capricious.

ARTICLE XXV MISCELLANEOUS

- 25.1 Part-time employees shall receive all benefits of this AGREEMENT on a pro-rata basis, excepting Health Insurance in accordance with Chapter 32B and retirement benefits, eligibility for which is determined in accordance with Chapter 32, or IRS regulations. In the case of employees who regularly work less than 25 hours per week, an amount equal to 7.5% of their gross wages will be deducted into a deferred compensation plan. For existing part-time employees affected by the conversion to a deferred compensation plan, the Town will compensate them for the difference in their withholdings from Social Security to Deferred Compensation.
- **25.2** Employees required to use personal vehicles in the performance of their duties, including travel from branches, shall be compensated at the mileage rate established for Town employees.
- 25.3 A Standing Committee is established for the duration of this agreement to discuss technological changes and their impact on library operations. Membership on the Standing Committee shall consist of two bargaining unit employees to be appointed by the Milton Library Staff Association/M.L.S.A., the Library Director, and a fourth member to be appointed by the Board of Library Trustees. The Committee shall meet monthly or at such other times as may be mutually agreed.

- 25.4 The Town understands that the Association has concerns with respect to the filling of vacant professional positions. Not later than the end of October, the Association may, if it so chooses, notify the Library Director of its desire to discuss the specific issue of whether there is an intent to fill particular vacant professional positions for the following fiscal year, and the Town will meet with the Association to hear its concerns.
- 25.5 The security of the Library is an important concern. All employees need to be mindful of safety in securing the workplace. Therefore, it shall be the responsibility of the Library Supervisor on duty to ensure that all doors and windows are locked and other appropriate building security measures are adhered to in closing the Milton Public Library.

ARTICLE XXVI UNSCHEDULED CLOSINGS

26.1 If an employee is sent home from work or told not to report to work because of an emergency closing, that employee will be paid at the standard hourly rate for the number of hours they were scheduled to work. This provision only applies to emergency closings that are of a duration of seven days or less, or to the first seven days of any emergency closing that is of a duration of more than seven days. Decisions about whether to open or close the Library shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this contract.

ARTICLE XXVII DURATION

27.1 Duration of this Agreement except as otherwise specifically provided, shall be effective from July 1, 2016 and shall continue in

effect until June 30, 2019, and shall be automatically renewed each year thereafter unless either party serves upon the other a written notice of a desire to modify or terminate this Agreement, no later than January 15, 2019.

Agreement entered into this 7^{TH} day of June 2016.

FOR THE TOWN OF MILTON	FOR THE MILTON PUBLIC LIBRARY STAFF
	Association, MLSA, AFT,
	AFT MASSACHUSETTS, AFL-CIO
	·

BOARD OF SELECTMEN

This Agreement supersedes the prior Agreement which by its terms would otherwise have been effective from July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2016.

APPENDIX A WAGES

7/1/2016	2%							
GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	
LS-3	\$717.63	\$739.15	\$761.33	\$784.18	\$807.70	\$831.93	\$865.71	
LS-4	\$823.68	\$848.39	\$873.84	\$900.06	\$927.05	\$954.87	\$987.33	
LS-5	\$876.70	\$903.01	\$930.09	\$957.99	\$986.73	\$1,016.34	\$1,033.10	
L-2	\$985.95	\$1,015.52	\$1,045.99	\$1,077.36	\$1,109.70	\$1,142.98	\$1,177.27	
L-2.5	\$1,127.65	\$1,161.47	\$1,196.33	\$1,232.21	\$1,269.17	\$1,307.25	\$1,346.47	
L-3	\$1,334.69	\$1,374.17	\$1,415.99	\$1,458.47	\$1,502.23	\$1,547.31	\$1,593.71	
7/1/2017	2%							
GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	
LS-3	\$731.98	\$753.94	\$776.55	\$799.86	\$823.85	\$848.57	\$883.03	
LS-4	\$840.15	\$865.35	\$891.32	\$918.06	\$945.59	\$973.97	\$1,007.08	
LS-5	\$894.23	\$921.07	\$948.69	\$977.15	\$1,006.46	\$1,036.66	\$1,053.76	
L-2	\$1,005.67	\$1,035.83	\$1,066.91	\$1,098.91	\$1,131.89	\$1,165.84	\$1,200.82	
L-2.5	\$1,150.20	\$1,184.70	\$1,220.25	\$1,256.86	\$1,294.55	\$1,333.40	\$1,373.40	
L-3	\$1,361.38	\$1,401.66	\$1,444.31	\$1,487.64	\$1,532.27	\$1,578.26	\$1,625.58	
7/1/2018	2%							
GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 20
LS-3	\$746.62	\$769.01	\$792.09	\$815.86	\$840.33	\$865.54	\$900.69	\$909.70
LS-4	\$856.96	\$882.66	\$909.15	\$936.42	\$964.50	\$993.45	\$1,027.22	\$1,037.49
LS-5	\$912.12	\$939.49	\$967.66	\$996.70	\$1,026.59	\$1,057.40	\$1,074.83	\$1,085.58
L-2	\$1,025.78	\$1,056.55	\$1,088.25	\$1,120.89	\$1,154.53	\$1,189.16	\$1,224.84	\$1,237.08
L-2.5	\$1,173.21	\$1,208.40	\$1,244.66	\$1,281.99	\$1,320.44	\$1,360.07	\$1,400.87	\$1,414.88
L-3	\$1,388.61	\$1,429.69	\$1,473.20	\$1,517.39	\$1,562.92	\$1,609.82	\$1,658.10	\$1,674.68

APPENDIX B NIGHT DIFFERENTIAL

Those employees who are regular and permanent employees who work ten (10) hours or more and are assigned to work a night shift shall receive the hourly amounts set forth below for all hours regularly assigned to them and actually worked by them between 5:30 p.m. and 9:00 p.m. This amount shall not apply towards overtime or overtime pay computations or towards computation of compensatory time, if any.

HOURLY AMOUNT

Effective July 1, 2012 - \$2.85

APPENDIX C SATURDAY DIFFERENTIAL

Those employees who are regular and permanent employees and who work ten (10) hours or more and are assigned to work a Saturday day shift shall receive the hourly amounts set forth below for all hours regularly assigned to them and actually worked by them between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. This amount shall not apply towards overtime or overtime computations or towards computation of compensatory time, if any.

HOURLY AMOUNT

Effective July 1, 2012 - \$2.85

APPENDIX D SICK LEAVE BANK

The Milton Public Library Sick Leave Bank will enable all members of the staff covered by the contract to contribute voluntarily one (1) day per year of their accumulated sick days for use by a participating member whose sick leave is exhausted through prolonged illness. The Sick Leave Bank is designed for prolonged illness and will be used only by staff intending to return immediately after the prolonged illness.

(Additional language to be agreed upon by the parties and appended hereto and incorporated herein by reference.)